
 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and 
Contracts Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Wednesday 28 July 2021 at 7pm 
Online - Virtual Informal Meeting 

 

MEMBERSHIP 
 

Administration: Opposition 

Councillor Helen Rowbottom (Chair) 
Councillor David Morton 
Councillor Patricia Quigley 
Councillor Guy Vincent 
 

Councillor Donald Johnson 
 

Co-optees 

Tony Boys 
Erik Hohenstein 
Chris Littmoden 
Judith Worthy 
 

 
 
 
CONTACT OFFICER: Bathsheba Mall 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 0208 753 2499 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 

 
 
Agendas are available on the Council’s website: www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees 
 
A livestream of the meeting can be viewed here: Watch live on YouTube 
 

Date Issued: 27 July 2021 

mailto:bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk
https://www.lbhf.gov.uk/committees
https://youtu.be/vcfJfRkVUGs


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability Committee 

Agenda 
28 July 2021 

 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES  
 

5 - 14 

 To approve as an accurate record, and the Chairman to sign the 
minutes of the meeting held on 31 March 2021. 
 

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent.  
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest.  
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Standards 
Committee.  
 

 

4.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 

 

 This meeting is being held remotely. If you would like to ask a question 
about any of the items on the agenda, either remotely or in writing, 
please contact: Bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk  
 
You can view a livestream of the meeting: Watch live on YouTube 

 

https://youtu.be/vcfJfRkVUGs


 

5.   2020/21 PROVISIONAL REVENUE OUTTURN REPORT  
 

15 - 34 

 This report sets out the provisional 2020/21 General Fund outturn. It 
reiterates some of the risks identified through Covid-19 related council 
expenditure and increased costs and pressures as pandemic 
restrictions ease.  The report also details the provisional Housing 
Revenue Account outturn and provides information about the Funding 
for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Block (HNB) which 
continues to experience pressure.  
 

 

6.   COMMERCIAL REVENUE  
 
This report considers the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on 
commercial income across the Council, the steps taken to mitigate and 
protect income and the opportunities and plans for 2021/22 onwards.  
 
Please note that Appendix 2 is not for publication on the basis that it 
contains information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) as set 
out in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended). 
 

35 - 46 

7.   RESTORATION OF HAMMERSMITH BRIDGE  
 

47 - 58 

 This report sets out emerging possibilities for delivery entities and 
funding options available to the council with a preference identified. 
Hammersmith Bridge will continue to require long term on-going 
monitoring and maintenance. Any preferred option should satisfy this 
requirement. Owing to its state of repair, the Council must address the 
delivery of a repair and restoration project for Hammersmith Bridge.  
 

 

8.   PROCESS ENGINEERING SERIES - TBC  
 

Verbal  

 The purpose of this item is to hear about the perspectives and 
experiences of experts based in the private sector to talk through 
different approaches that the council can learn from to help achieve 
greater efficiencies. 

 

  

9.   COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  
 

 

10.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 

 

 The date of the next meeting is scheduled for Wednesday, 17 
November 2021 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Finance, Commercial 
Revenue and Contracts 
Policy & Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 31 March 2021 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Helen Rowbottom (Chair), Patricia Quigley, 
Guy Vincent and Donald Johnson 
 
Co-opted members: Tony Boys (Community), Erik Hohenstein (Community), Chris 
Littmoden (Community) and Judith Worthy (Community) 
 
Other Councillors: Sue Fennimore, Deputy Leader 
 
Officers: Emily Hill, Director of Finance, Kim Smith, Chief Executive Officer 
 

 
1. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  

 
RESOLVED 
 

That the minutes of the previous meetings held on 28 January 2021 
18 November 2020 were agreed as an accurate record.  
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor David Morton. 
 

3. ROLL CALL AND DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
None. 
 

4. H&F COUNCIL'S DRAFT EQUALITIES PLAN FOR 2021-2025  
 
Councillor Helen Rowbottom welcomed Emily Hill, Kim Smith, and 
Councillor Sue Fennimore to jointly present the report and consultation 
document which set out details of the council’s draft Equalities Plan. 
Recently launched, the consultation was open for a 12 week period until 

Page 4

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

the end of April 2021. The consultation document set the boroughs 
direction of travel for progressing equality of opportunity over the next four 
years, shaping policy across the council. Councillor Rowbottom welcomed 
the report given the impact of inequalities and the disproportionate 
outcomes for many groups.   
 
Emily Hill explained that the council was required to publish the Equalities 
Plan objectives in line with its public sector equality duty to eliminate 
discrimination and foster good relations (paragraph 1.4). The council’s 
vision was to become the most inclusive borough in the UK with equal 
opportunity of access for all residents. The removal of barriers to inclusion 
challenging the disproportionate impact on vulnerable groups was a key 
priority.  Details of the consultation and how to contribute had been shared 
across multiple media channels. Members of the council’s policy and 
accountability committees (PACs) were encouraged to participate and to 
share details of the consultation. 
 
Councillor Donald Johnson welcomed the report and asked if the 
consultation was restricted to addressing inequalities experienced by 
those who have protected characteristics or was there an opportunity to 
be more proactive and tackle broader issues such as deprivation.  Emily 
Hill clarified that that the legal framework encompassed protected 
characteristics but acknowledged that there was a multiplicity of factors 
and experiences to address. This intersectionality meant that it was 
possible to include factors such as deprivation.   
 
Councillor Johnson commented that the council had previously included 
as a cohort young white boys who had performed poorly at school and 
lower life outcomes.  Kim Smith responded that the two key objectives of 
the draft Equalities Plan was to improve opportunities and to tackle 
inequalities and that this was applicable to all borough residents. Some of 
the root causes of inequality stemmed from deprivation, poverty and 
discrimination and were cross cutting as they affected all residents. As a 
compassionate borough the intention was to ensure economic prosperity 
and inclusion for all groups, visible and hidden, so that no one was left 
behind. 
 
Councillor Rowbottom noted that the consultation document had been 
informed by detailed evidence provided by the borough business 
intelligence team and acknowledged that there were a range of groups 
impacted by inequality of opportunity and poor outcomes.  Outcomes for 
children and young people could be improved, for example, post 16 
apprenticeships, and support measures for women returning to work after 
having children.  
 
The report was welcomed by co-optee Erik Hohenstein who enquired 
about how many people were likely to be aware of it or had provided 
feedback to the consultation document. Given the likelihood that Covid 
might affect the level of public participation he queried whether the 
consultation period was long enough. Observing the intention within the 
vision statement to be inclusive he felt it was important that the council 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

clearly understood the reality of what was hoped for and to not compare 
itself to other organisations.   
 
Kim Smith confirmed that details of the response rate to date were not 
available and that 12-weeks was sufficient as the document had been 
widely publicised. The draft plan was not designed to be encompassing 
but data and actions would be included in a final iteration.  The previous 
plan had focused on employment opportunities and refined the local 
apprenticeship offer, working in partnership with employers. Significant 
work had also been undertaken around disability so that each four year 
plan incorporated equality for all, aimed to remove barriers to inclusion 
and was work in progress to ensure that no community was left behind. In 
terms of the vision statement to ‘be the best’ this was reflected in the key 
performance indicators (KPIs) that underpinned the action plan and would 
demonstrate what success would look like. Many minority ethnic 
communities had experienced a high level of fatigue about the assurances 
and rhetoric given and this had been found to be particularly true around 
vaccine hesitancy. It was important that an aspirational statement about 
wanting to ‘be the best’ was understood by residents as a serious 
commitment that the council would strive to deliver.   
 
Councillor Fennimore concurred that actions and KPIs were essential and 
H&F had a long history of being dedicated to equalities and inclusion and 
the Equalities Plan had been an exciting and accessible piece of work 
offering an opportunity for a wider conversation. She referred to innovative 
the partnership work of the H&F Gangs unit with the Metropolitan Police to 
address the exploitation of young people. This was an important 
opportunity to canvas the views of residents and she encouraged 
members to contribute to the consultation and share details of it.  
Councillor Rowbottom acknowledged the importance of including metrics 
for analysis combined with the collective or anecdotal experience reported 
through this process which was also valuable.  
 
Councillor Quigley commended the report and encouraged colleagues to 
review it. In response to Councillor Quigley’s question Kim Smith 
confirmed that an accessible, digital platform called Citizen Space was 
being used that offered to access to the draft document in different 
formats and languages. Councillor Fennimore acknowledged the 
importance of ensuring inclusion through accessibility.  
 
Co-optee Tony Boys welcomed the evidence based approach of the 
consultation document, its focus on specific issues prevalent in H&F and 
how to improve inclusion. Much of the work had already begun, for 
example the H&F Gangs Unit, and he suggested that the draft Equalities 
Plan be continually reviewed as a “live” document incorporating specific 
metrics to monitor and measure progress, at six or nine month intervals.  
Councillor Rowbottom supported this and added that a periodic review of 
KPIs within the action plan could be enhanced by a finance perspective.  
The level of commitment to the draft Equalities Plan was reflected in 
ensuring attendance and discussion with all PAC members. While the 
responsibility to scrutinise rested within the remit of all of PACs this was 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

particularly the case around Finance. Eric Hohenstein observed that one 
of the areas for the PAC was to identify returns on investment or public 
expenditure and understanding the KPIs would indicate the value to 
residents and how these were being delivered.  
 
Endorsing points made on the value of the return on investment Kim Smith 
added that councils often referred to ‘hard to reach’ communities rather 
than ‘not convinced’ and the difficulties they experienced in accessing 
services. The inclusion agenda was focused on how to help communities 
identifying barriers and inefficiencies within service provision to reveal the 
hidden costs behind demand and failure to manage which needed to be 
better understood.  
 

ACTION: Further and periodic updates to be provided to the PAC 
 

Councillor Johnson referenced post Covid recovery work and commented 
that employers and organisations had realised that actively supporting 
diversity and inclusion needed to be integrated and sustainable. As the 
council proactively progressed its green agenda to meet environmental 
targets through the implementation of its action plan this could help 
generate greater employment and recruitment opportunities. Councillor 
Rowbottom reflected that if it might be possible to identify those interested 
equalities and inclusion through their feedback, and channel this into, for 
example, a community champions model. 
 
Co-optee Chris Littmoden referenced Kim Smith points and commented 
that it was difficult to measure the ‘soft’ benefits compared to financial 
ones.  He noted that this was the second or third, four year plan and 
asked officers to identify what was in their view the single measure that 
has been consistently progressed throughout the plan. It was confirmed 
that this was the third Equalities Plan produced and in line with Equalities 
Act 2010, compliant with a statutory duty of care for those with protected 
characteristics.  It was important that this be visible and central to the H&F 
equalities agenda.   
 
Kim Smith outlined her experience  being appointed the first black, female, 
chief executive officer to lead a local authority at that time with a diverse 
strategic leadership team. Inclusion and belonging were demonstrably part 
of the council’s visible agenda within the H&F workforce. More 
importantly, the council’s agility in delivering better for residents was 
illustrated in its response to Covid. The  work of the H&F, Director of 
Public Health, Dr Nicola Lang, in supporting different communities on 
vaccine engagement was an excellent example of this. Dr Lang had 
recently participated in an event organised by the council and 
commissioned by the Roman Catholic Diocese of Westminster to discuss 
vaccine hesitancy. These were innovative and bold examples about the 
way in which the council valued residents and tried to work inclusively.  
 
The corporate approach has a guiding principle of doing things with 
residents and not to them. Lead staff within each council department  
were responsible for monitoring equalities. Additionally, there were also 
staff leads on specific, protected characteristics such as LGBTQ+, race or 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

disability. Councillor Fennimore paid tribute to the contribution made by 
staff across the council who had met the challenges of the past year and 
worked hard to find extraordinary and innovative ways of supporting 
residents and delivering services. Black history month and black lives 
matter H&F events had been successful because staff had ‘owned’ the 
events through their support.  This had been hugely beneficial across the 
organisation with improved customer care and a stronger, more committed 
council. Councillor Fennimore valued the voices of the council’s diverse 
workforce and was proud of what had been achieved so far but there 
remained much work to be done.  
 
Kim Smith explained that there were both explicit and implicit interventions 
which formed the core business of the council.  In social housing for 
example a statutory focus supported those that were vulnerable, and 
funding was specifically targeted. Councillor Rowbottom observed that it 
would be helpful to highlight education as a core and implicit provision.  In 
concluding the discussion Councillor Rowbottom encouraged members to 
provide feedback and thanked them for their insightful contributions.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1. That the members of the Committee note the report and draft Equalities 
Plan 2021-25; and 

2. That members were encouraged to formally respond to the consultation. 
 

5. 2022 BUDGET CONTEXT  
 
Councillor Rowbottom prefaced discussion of the item and presentation and 
explained that it set the national, budget context. It acknowledged the 
inherent financial difficulties of the extraordinary events of the past year and 
the period ahead with the continued challenges presented by Covid, 
preceded by years of austerity. Tailored focus was required to maintain 
financial health and central to this was how the council was able to innovate 
to create greater efficiencies and generate income.  The guiding principle for 
the Committee was to support the council in delivering more for less with two 
key priorities: to be ruthlessly and financially efficient whilst at the same time, 
to be a compassionate council. Councillor Rowbottom reported that since 
2014, a little under £58 million of spend had been removed from the council’s 
annual budget, reducing the budget to approximately £182 million. The lean 
structure of the council had presented significant challenges in dealing with 
the pandemic. Councillor Rowbottom invited members to consider the 
following three questions: 
 

 To identify what the biggest financial issues currently were, or, that 
the council would be facing in future; 

 What were the most impactful opportunities to exploit or consider and 
identify areas where strong interventions were possible; and 

 What areas needed to be understood in greater depth, supported by 
data and analysis. 

 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Emily Hill led the presentation and outlined the purpose of the report 
which examined the medium term financial strategy (MTFS) within a 
national, financial context and what this meant for H&F. Identifying 
savings through efficiencies was becoming increasingly difficult and the 
challenges presented by the pandemic potentially signalled a renewed 
austerity programme. Changes to the settlement process, now an annual 
assessment, also indicated significant uncertainty and risk in local 
government funding.  An economic downturn and central government 
policy objectives such as levelling up or fair funding would divert funds 
from inner city boroughs like H&F. A corresponding increase in demand 
for services and potential unmet demand following Covid presented a 
difficult landscape to navigate.  The considerable strain that this caused 
had led to the London Borough of Croydon issuing a section 114 notice 
(where a local authority only has enough funds to deliver essential or 
regulatory services). H&F had responded well to the demands of austerity, 
achieved significant savings, and met additional demand but with an 
increased cost.  A balanced budget had been set for 2021-22 had factored 
in Covid, and pressures from demand led from complex adult social care 
and children’s services cases.  
 
Councillor Rowbottom welcomed the report and commented that 
anticipating and modelling outcomes for contingency planning could 
include both best, medium and worst case scenarios which could be 
revisited depending on national policy or inflationary trends.  This would 
help to identify actions and plans to mitigate.  
 
Councillor Quigley sought clarification about the level of funding provided 
by government.  Emily Hill clarified that she expected local government 
long term funding to reduce which would require councils to reassess 
services and planned core spending power. This could mean a rise in 
council tax to meet government expectations. Speculating about the end 
of the furlough programme it was noted that many may struggle to pay 
council tax.  Emily Hill concurred with Councillor Quigley’s sentiment that 
this appeared to be an irresponsible approach given the financial 
pressures of Covid. Council tax was a significant income stream for the 
council and close monitoring had highlighted a reduction in collection 
rates.  Despite H&F having a significant and generous council tax relief 
support scheme for residents on low income the collection rate may not be 
as badly affected as that of other local authorities. However, the scheme 
was a cost to the council. A cautious budget had been set which included 
contingencies and an adequate reserve buffer.  Councillor Schmidt added 
that H&F offered full relief on council tax to eligible residents compared to 
many other local authorities who did not.  Residents on benefits were 
exempt from paying council tax until their financial and work 
circumstances were resolved and the amount did not accumulate.  
 
Co-optee Tony Boys noted that the Committee’s co-optees had been 
strongly encouraged to investigate the council’s ruthlessly and financially 
efficient approach and to look at areas that could achieve more for less in 
addition to areas which could possibly generate income. Against a 
backdrop of rumours that large investment banks had predicted a 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

significant economic turnaround he suggested that a flexible and 
responsive approach would help to take advantage of any upturn.  The 
responsibility of the PAC would be to explore and analyse ideas that could 
be sourced and developed to improve efficiency, identify innovative and 
efficient methods of service delivery and increase revenue.   
  
Erik Hohenstein sought clarification that a reduction in business rates was 
calculated between 2020-21 and 2021-22 and expressed an interest in 
any modelling work to evaluate the impact of a range of scenarios.  In 
addition, he asked about the investment of capital in areas not normally 
permitted by local authority financial regulations, given that level of capital 
reserves that had been built up might be at risk. For example, funding 
generated from section 106 large scale development projects could be 
used to support financially weakened areas. The report presented a 
positive picture of sound financial management, however, this could  
result in financial penalties as the council appeared to manage so well.  
Using the example of ring fenced funding for schools he sought an update 
about a project which had considered how to achieve greater value from 
the school’s estate in terms of generating capital receipts.   
 
Emily Hill referenced the report which set out the risks of the ‘material 
change in circumstances’ that local business rates payers might seek 
which would allow a reduction in business rate revenue.  A proposed 
change to the legislation (this was implemented following the publication 
of the Agenda) would prevent this, replaced by a government relief 
scheme which would mitigate risk. The change would have a significant 
impact on revenue, and this had been included in the modelling. Also 
included was a safety net payment, or the minimum amount of business 
rate revenue guaranteed by government. If revenues fell below that figure, 
then the council would receive a top up. However, a greater risk was 
presented by the wider government review of business rates which might 
consider removing the safety net payment or how business rates will be 
distributed to local government in future.  It was suggested that this should 
be considered cross departmentally and anticipate a further deterioration 
in funding, despite the previous ten years of austerity.  It was necessary to 
monitor developments in business rates carefully especially in the context 
of e-commerce which would not reflect local need in individual boroughs 
and likely to result in redistribution of business rates.  
 
With regards to the build-up of capital reserves and the investment of 
capital receipts, Emily Hill explained that many councils under significant 
financial pressure were provided with a ‘capitalisation direction’ by the 
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government's (MHCLG, 
formerly the Department for Communities and Local Government) which 
allowed them to borrow funds and boost revenue.  Mitigation through 
safety net payments was not regarded as a risk compared to capitalisation 
direction.  It was acknowledged that there were different rules for local 
authorities relating to the use of capital and revenue and councils were 
only permitted to borrow for capital purposes and not for alleviating cash 
flow and revenue issues.  A capital direction allowed a council to treat 
revenue as expenditure with repayment over an extended period. This did 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

not mean that section 106 developer contributions should be spent 
elsewhere as the legislative rules for this still applied.  A capitalisation 
direction would not necessarily result in a redirection of capital receipts to 
infrastructure projects such as affordable housing.  It was a last resort and 
rarely used mechanism which might prevent a council from having to issue 
a section 114 notice.   
 
In reviewing the school’s estate Emily Hill explained that this continued to 
be explored. School buildings were important assets however they needed 
significant investment to ensure that were fit for purpose. Unfortunately, 
there were no significant capital funds available from the Department for 
Education to support renewal options. The suggestion that capital receipts 
could be generated and used to help create new, modern school buildings 
was not feasible. There was no suggestion that school estates be used to 
raise funds although if they were, any surplus funds would be redistributed 
to other child centred services. Emily Hill confirmed that they had 
previously discussed the provision of complex high needs and the option 
of applying capital receipts through regeneration and community asset 
schemes, however, other options appeared more viable.  Chris Littmoden 
concurred but felt that there was a need for in-depth focus and 
investigation in relation to zero based budgeting.  Use of the council’s 
capital estate should be a focus for the committee as should be the 
principle of doing more with less. 
 
Councillor Rowbottom provided a brief recap of the key discussion points 
noting that the council had done well to successfully mitigate financial risk. 
During a ten year programme austerity H&F had strived to deliver 
statutory services which had generally been successful in a climate of 
ever shrinking financial settlements, which was unsustainable. It was 
acknowledged that as national policies were implemented to support the 
government’s levelling up agenda borough’s like H&F became less of a 
priority and so, at greater risk. The borough’s council tax had historically 
been low and there was a challenging expectation that revenue could be 
increased.  
 
Councillor Rowbottom agreed that it was important to delineate between 
statutory and non-statutory obligations. It was noted that co-optees had 
previously raised points about having succinct explanations and that in the 
context of efficiencies, at what point was it recognised that this had 
exceeded sustainable limits. The council had been good at doing more for 
less and delivered services with value, so it was important to articulate 
this message and communicate it to the public and policymakers.  Emily 
Hill briefly outlined aspects of the report that related to social care and the 
trajectory of pressures that the council needed to address.  A significant 
portion of the council’s budget supported the complex needs of both 
adults and child placements, home care charges and other direct 
payments and amounted to approximately £60 million for social care and 
$51 million for children’s services, from a budget of £164 million.  
Approximately 2500 adults were supported through home care direct 
payments and home care needs. A significant proportion of this ensured 
that home care providers paid care staff a London Living Wage, the costs 

Page 11



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

of which had increased significantly. This, together with increased acuity 
of need and the number of those requiring additional support had led to a 
growth in demand, together with the added long term difficulties arising 
from Covid. Hospital discharges presented an additional cost together with 
the cost of cleaning to ensure that providers were able to deliver 
residential care in a safe environment.  Preventative measures were key 
to ensure that health conditions were better managed, and that fewer 
people required higher level interventions or developed more complex 
care needs.   
 
RESOLVED 
 
That the report be noted.  
 

 
6. COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  

 
Councillor summarised actions arising from the reports which would help 
shape the Committee’s ongoing work programme: 
 
Agenda Item 4 - Draft Equalities Plan 2021-25: 

1. To include and address the needs of groups and communities that 
experience low life outcomes and that an explicitly evidenced based 
approach ensured that data was used to help identify how services can 
be delivered more inclusively; 

2. That data was the driver for measuring need to help identify groups 
and to understand the impact of any changes implemented; 

3. To utilise council touch points for deeper engagement with 
communities; 

4. For the council to demonstrate how the plan will be embedded across 
the organisation; 

5. For the committee to utilise a financial lens to understand the metrics 
and the KPIs and to benchmark provision against comparative 
councils; 

6. To evaluate the return on investment and to demonstrate what is 
deliverable to residents through council tax payment; 

7. To help influence and shape policy delivery with a financial context; 
and 

8. To recognise that this was a critical period for local government, post 
Covid given the disproportionate impact of health inequalities in some 
communities. 

 
Agenda Item 5 – 2022 Budget Context: 

1. To review financial modelling and, for example, to understand business 
rate scenario analysis and outcomes or the impact on the rising cost of 
complex social care; 

2. To understand the impact of and distinction between statutory and 
non-statutory services and to identify; 

3. To consider capital estate and whether this can be used to generate 
capital receipts for reinvestment; and 

Page 12



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

4. To look at the financial pressures of meeting the increased demand for 
social care and complex need, within the context of a population 
growth trajectory of 6.3% between 2018 and 2028.   The outcome of 
the current debate about an insurance care or state care model to 
meet escalating care costs was difficult to predict. 

 
 

7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The date of the next meeting was noted as 28 July 2021.  

 
 

Meeting started: 6.30pm 
Meeting ended: 8.34pm 

 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Bathsheba Mall 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 07776672816 
 E-mail: bathsheba.mall@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 13



   
 

 1 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

 
Report to: Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy & 

Accountability Committee 
 
 
Date: 28 July 2021 
 

Subject: 2020/21 PROVISIONAL REVENUE OUTTURN REPORT 

 
Report of:   Emily Hill – Director of Finance 
 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The provisional 2020/21 General Fund outturn is an underspend of £0.301m. 
Significant Covid-19 funding was applied during the year to fund expenditure 
incurred in delivering the council’s Covid-19 response and income losses 
experienced during the year. In 2021/22 there continue to be risks with regards to 
increases in costs and pressures as Covid-19 restrictions ease with the potential 
release of pent up demand and the ongoing impact of the pandemic on economic 
recovery. 
  
The provisional Housing Revenue Account (HRA) outturn will require a draw down 
from HRA general balances of £7.020m. Whilst this is £0.904m less than budgeted, 
the HRA continues to experience significant financial pressures which need to be 
addressed. 
 

Funding for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) High Needs Block (HNB) continues 
to be under pressure, although the situation is improving considerably in line with the 
council’s DSG recovery plan. For 2020/21 the cumulative HNB DSG overspend is 
£16.679m. This is £3.111m better than the previous year. The deficit will further 
reduce in 2021/22 following the council securing additional Government funding and 
continuing to manage its DSG recovery plan. 
 
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. To note the General Fund underspend of £0.301m. 

2. To note that the draw down from the  Housing Revenue Account general 

balance was £0.904m less than budgeted. 

3. To note the in-year reduction in the Dedicated Schools Grant High Needs Block 

cumulative overspend of £3.111m. 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



   
 

 2 

 

Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 

Our Priorities Summary of how this report aligns to the 
H&F Priorities  

Being ruthlessly financially efficient We need to always confirm that spend fits 
our council’s priorities; challenge how much 
needs to be spent; and achieve results 
within agreed budgets. Finance is 
everyone’s business and every penny 
counts.   

 

Financial Impact  

 
This report is financial in nature and those implications are contained within.  

Legal Implications 

 
There are no legal implications for this report. 

 

Contact Officers: 

 
Name:  Gary Ironmonger/ Andrew Lord 
Position: Finance Manager/ Head of Strategic Planning and Monitoring 
Telephone: 020 8753 2109/ 020 8753 2531 
Email:  gary.ironmonger@lbhf.gov.uk/ Andrew.Lord@lbhf.gov.uk 
Verified by Emily Hill, Assistant Director, Finance  
 
Name:  Adesuwa Omoregie  
Position: Head of Law 
Telephone: 0208 7532297 
Email:  Adesuwa.omoregie@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

 
None 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 15

mailto:gary.ironmonger@lbhf.gov.uk/
mailto:Andrew.Lord@lbhf.gov.uk


   
 

 3 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 

GENERAL FUND 

 
1. As set out in Table 1 there was a year-end underspend against departmental 

budgets of £0.301 million in 2020/21.  

Table 1 – Provisional General Fund outturn 2020/21  
(underspends in brackets) 

 

Department 
Revised 
budget  

£m 

Gross variance 
 

£m 

Children’s Services 55.898 (0.024) 

The Economy Department (39.667) (0.148) 

The Environment Department 74.732 (1.251) 

Controlled Parking Account (14.883) 1.197 

Finance 3.467 (0.183) 

Resources 4.517 (0.366) 

Social Care 58.350 (0.097) 

Centrally Managed Budgets 2.729 0.571 

Total 145.143 (0.301) 

 
2. The main departmental variances are set out in Appendices 1 to 7.  

3. The council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in additional 

expenditure and income loss of £41.8m of which £36.2m has been funded 

through government grant.  The departmental impact is summarised within 

Appendices 1 to 7. In addition a £1.1m loss is estimated regarding council tax 

collection in 2020/21. Under local authority accounting regulations this loss will 

be spread over 3 years from 2021/22 onwards. The council will offset this 

against government Covid-19 grant funding carried forward. 

HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 

 
4. The draw down from the Housing Revenue Account general balance was 

£0.904m less than budgeted. The main variances are detailed in Appendix 8. 

The outturn includes Covid costs and income losses of £0.245m for which no 

government grant support has been received.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



   
 

 4 

Table 3: Housing Revenue Account forecast outturn  
 

Housing Revenue Account (General Reserve) £m 

Balance as at 31 March 2020 (24.607) 

Less: Budgeted appropriation from balances  7.924 

Add: underspend (0.904) 

Balance as at 31st March 2021 (17.587) 

 

DEDICATED SCHOOLS GRANT (DSG) 

 
5. Dedicated schools grant (DSG) is paid in support of local authority schools’ and 

is the main source of income for the schools’ budget. It is split between central 

expenditure and the individual schools’ budget (ISB) in conjunction with the 

local schools’ forum.   

6. The cumulative balances for the High Needs Block, Early Years and schools 
block are set out in Table 4.  Funding for the Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) 
High Needs Block (HNB) continues to be under pressure, although the situation 
is improving considerably. The cumulative deficit has reduced by £3.111m in 
2020/21 in line with the Council’s DSG recovery plan and agreement to obtain 
additional government funding. 
 
Table 4:  Dedicated Schools Grant – Cumulative Balance 
 

 2020/21 
opening 
balance 

£m 

In-year 
movement 

 
£m 

2020/21 
closing 
balance 

£m 

Early Years (surplus) 0.065 1.353 1.418 

Schools (surplus) 0.605 0.150 0.755 

High Needs (deficit) (19.790) 3.111 (16.679) 

   

GENERAL FUND RESERVES 

 
7. The latest reserves position is set out in Table 5.  

  

Page 17



   
 

 5 

Table 5 – Movement in General Fund reserves 

 

  

2020/21 
opening 
balance 

£m 

In-year 
movement 

 
£m 

2020/21 
closing 
balance 

£m 

General balance 19.0 0.3 19.3 

Earmarked reserves 28.8 17.2 46.0 

Total general balances and earmarked  
reserves 

47.8 17.5 65.3 

     

Restricted reserves  9.5 (0.2) 9.3 

Covid-19 response and recovery reserve 6.2 44.7 50.9 

Dedicated Schools Grant (restated) 19.1 (0.3) 18.8 

Total 82.6 61.7 144,3 

Revenue developer contributions (section 
106 and community infrastructure levy (CIL) 

16.6 29.4 46.0 

 
8. General balances and earmarked reserves have increased by £17.5m in 

2020/21. This includes budgeted new contributions of £7.2m to ensure financial 
resilience and smoothing adjustments regarding prior year business rates of 
£6m.  
 

9. Balances of £18.8m are carried forward regarding Dedicated Schools Grant. 
This includes the surplus of £2.173m regarding the Early years and Schools 
block. £16.679m is also carried forward regarding the outstanding High Needs 
Block deficit. The accounting treatment regarding the historic DSG high needs 
block deficit has been updated in 2020/21 (with the deficit no longer set against 
reserves as a negative reserve and held elsewhere on the balance sheet 
following a statutory override in place for 3 years). The figures presented in 
Table 5 are restated on a like for like basis.     
 

10. The Covid-19 reserve has increased by £44.7m albeit this is not new money for 
the council to spend. £41m of the increase relates to the council’s share of 
business rates reliefs issued in 2020/21 These funds are therefore not available 
to the council more generally but to meet known liabilities that will be charged 
against this reserve over the next 3 years. In addition the reserve includes 
£3.9m carried forward in respect of business grants that are payable to local 
businesses in 2021/22 in line with the government’s grant conditions.  

  
11. The balance of unapplied developer revenue contributions has increased by 

£29.4m. Significant receipts included £15m regarding Olympia, £5.5m 
regarding land to the north of White City and a net CIL contribution of £2.5m. 
This have strict associated commitments on how they can be spent.  

 
12. The figures for reserves and balances continue to be reviewed particularly 

regarding the finalisation of the business rate entries. A full update on the 
reserves strategy and action will be provided as part of the 2021/22 month 6 
corporate revenue monitor report. 

Page 18



   
 

 6 

EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

 
13. As required by Section 149 of the Equality Act 2010, the Council has 

considered its obligations regarding the Public-Sector Equality Duty and it is not 

anticipated that there will be any direct negative impact on groups with 

protected characteristics, as defined by the Act, from the adjustments to the 

budgets required because of this report. 

RISK MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS 

 
14. The Council has a statutory duty to arrange for the proper administration of its 

financial affairs and a fiduciary duty to taxpayers with regards to its use of and 

accounting for public monies. This report assists in the discharge of those 

duties. 

Implications completed by: David Hughes, Director of Audit, Fraud, Risk and 
Insurance, telephone 020 8753 2587. 

 
 

List of Appendices: 

 

Appendix Title 

Appendix 1 Children’s Services 

Appendix 2 The Economy Department 

Appendix 3 The Environment Department 

Appendix 3a Controlled Parking Account 

Appendix 4 Finance  

Appendix 5 Resources 

Appendix 6 Social Care 

Appendix 7 Centrally Managed Budgets 

Appendix 8 Housing Revenue Account 

Page 19



   
 

 7 

APPENDIX 1: CHILDREN’S SERVICES 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year 
End Net 
Variance 

£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100,000) 

Children and 
Young 
People's 
Services 

33,065 (1,530) 

Underspend on placements due to 
additional income received for Staying-put 
and Asylum Seekers, a lower level of new 
entrants to care and work done by the 
service to enable more young people to 
remain safely at home through effective 
and improved support to prevent entry to 
care. Improved tracking and monitoring 
arrangements to achieve early 
permanence for children have also resulted 
in children spending less time in care. 
Costs have also been reduced through an 
increase in semi-independent block 
contract provision, reducing the need for 
more costly spot purchased placements. 

Children's 
Commissioning 

4,892 655 

An in-year overspend on the Family 
Support framework contracts had agreed 
funding from reserves of £750,000 by 
Cabinet decision. However at outturn most 
of this overspend has been mitigated from 
departmental underspends with only 
£190,300 required funding from reserves. 

Children's 
Performance & 
Improvement 

2,310 22 
 

Director of 
Children's 
Services 

1,333 561 

2020/21 Children's Services budget 
savings were loaded here and have been 
redistributed across the service in 2021/22 
as Covid-19 delayed delivery which is not 
being progressed. 

Education 7,129 264 

The Haven residential unit for children with 
disabilities overspent. Budget growth as 
part of the 2021/22 medium term financial 
strategy means The Haven is not expected 
to overspend from 2021/22. 

School 
Funding 

7,169 3   

Total 55,898 (24)   

 
  

Page 20



   
 

 8 

 

Covid19 £000s 

Underlying variance (24) 

Additional Covid costs/ losses 2,877 

Additional Covid funding (2,877) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (24) 

The Covid-19 spend and funding related to expenditure with respect to specific 
targeted grant funding (mainly in relation to free school meals and holiday activities) 
in addition to expenditure incurred by services in their direct response and service 
adaptations with respect to the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 
 
  

Page 21



   
 

 9 

APPENDIX 2: THE ECONOMY DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year 
End Net 
Variance 

£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100,000) 

Housing 
Solutions 

8,239 320 

Improved income collection for Private 
Sector Leasing rents produced an 
underspend of (£593,000) on the bad debt 
provision, offset by an overspend on cost 
avoidance payments of £794,000 and 
£149,000 on running costs including legal 
and repairs expenditure. Because of 
departmental underspends in other areas the 
Temporary Accommodation reserve was not 
used to fund any of the additional cost 
avoidance payments. 

Economic 
Development, 
Learning & 
Skills 

(2,499) (89) 
Higher than budgeted rental income from the 
business units at the Townmead and Sullivan 
estates and underspends on other activities. 

Planning (52,527) (391) 

Variance due to staffing vacancies arising 
from recruitment delays (£301,000), 
unexpected grant income of (£230,000) 
offset by an overspend of £140,000 on 
exceptional costs for legal and other 
specialist advice on some specific 
applications.  

Operations 4,063 8   

Place 122 (7)   

Regeneration 
& 
Development 

2,882 11   

Head of 
Finance (GP) 

53 0   

Total (39,667) (148)   

 

Covid-19  £000s 

Underlying variance (148) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 3,757 

Additional Covid-19 funding (3,757) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (148) 

Page 22



   
 

 10 

Covid-19  £000s 

The Covid-19 spend includes the cost of provision of accommodation to rough 
sleepers and clients needing to self-isolate (partially offset by housing benefits 
received) of £1,200,000; the costs of staff supporting the Council's response to 
Covid-19 of £157,000 (Economic Development, Learning & Skills) and £291,000 
(Facilities Management); and income loss of £2,100,000.  
 
This is funded from specific Covid-19 grants (£674,000), Covid-19 income loss grant 
(£2.1m) and unringfenced Covid-19 grant (£974,000). 

 
 
 
   

Page 23



   
 

 11 

APPENDIX 3: THE ENVIRONMENT DEPARTMENT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Net Year 
End 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100,000) 

Public Realm 40,342 (286) 

Additional income from utility services 
(lower traffic activity in the pandemic 
allowed more infrastructure work to be 
completed) and strong management of 
external service contracts. These savings 
were partly utilised to fund the Climate 
Change Team. 

Safer 
Neighbourhoods 
& Regulatory 
Services 

8,089 (106) 

Underspends on Regulatory Services and 
Technical Services allowed the funding of 
additional expenditure on Community 
Safety Services (mainly CCTV) and 
maintaining level of Noise & Nuisance 
Services. 

Leisure Sports & 
Culture  

9,642 (786) 

Examples of variations include lower 
operational costs on employees and 
premises across all services including 
Events, Sport and Library Services.  

Residents 
Services  

16,659 (73) 
 

Total 74,732 (1,251)   

 

Covid-19  £000s 

Underlying Variation (1,251) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 6,738 

Additional Covid-19 funding (6,738) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (1,251) 

There were additional pandemic social distancing enforcement measures accounting 
for most of the expenditure pressures. 
 
The Department provides a wide range of fee charging services to our residents, 
businesses and visitors (eg commercial waste, building control, registrars, licensing, 
bereavement); the impact of the pandemic on income impact represented 25% of all 
expected income.  

 
 
 
  

Page 24



   
 

 12 

APPENDIX 3A: CONTROLLED PARKING ACCOUNT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 
 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100,000) 

Income (22,774) 1,223 

Variance mainly due to government 
income compensation scheme not 
covering all Covid-19 income losses due 
to lockdown measures. 

Expenditure 7,891 (26)   

Total (14,883) 1,197   

 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance (3,944) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 14,613 

Additional Covid-19 Funding (9,472) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) 1,197 

The Covid-19 losses and funding was entirely based around lost income due to 
reduced parking levels due to lockdown measures. The government income 
compensation scheme did not fully reimburse these losses.  

 
 
 
 
  

Page 25



   
 

 13 

APPENDIX 4: FINANCE  
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year 
End Net 
Variance 

£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100,000) 

Assurance, 
Programmes 
& Analytics 

172 148 

Additional Business Intelligence staffing 
costs to meet increased organisational 
demand for analytics, particularly in 
children’s social care. This overspend is 
partially mitigated by vacancies held 
within the Corporate Programme 
Management Office. 

Audit, Fraud, 
Risk and 
Insurance 

91 (81)   

Chief 
Executives 
Office 

626 (103) Underspend due to vacancies. 

Finance 2,500 (88)   

Managed 
Services 

78 (59)   

Total 3,467 (183)   

 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance (183) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 266 

Additional Covid-19 funding (266) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (183) 

The Covid-19 spend within Assurance, Programmes & Analytics was Business 
Intelligence staffing costs incurred to support central government data returns and 
establishment of the Community Action Network/Shielding support teams, funded by 
Test and Trace Grant. 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 26



   
 

 14 

APPENDIX 5: RESOURCES  
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100k) 

Director of 
Resources 

51 0  

Legal Services (453) (16)   

Democratic 
services, 
Coroners & 
Mortuaries 

3,273 (274) 

The council's share of Wave 1 and Wave 
2 pan-London mortality management 
provision cost, in response to the 
pandemic, for this financial year is 
£503,000.  
Underspends on staffing across 
Committee services and Coroners & 
Mortuaries, plus additional income 
generated from work for Kingston 
Hospital. 

Digital Services (45) (188) 

There were Covid related digital costs of 
£177,000 (additional device purchases 
and increased network resilience costs). 
There have been renegotiations with 
suppliers on several key business 
applications, cost reductions from 
decommissioning of network servers and 
a decrease in print volumes due to 
Covid-19. The service has underspent 
on salaries in part due to transferring 
agency staff onto fixed term contracts. 

Communications 
and 
Communities 

1,175 98   

Transformation, 
Talent and 
Inclusion 

110 (13)   

Procurement 44 (16)   

Leader's Office 362 43   

Total 4,517 (366)   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance (366) 

Page 27



   
 

 15 

Covid-19 £000s 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 937 

Additional Covid-19 funding (937) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (366) 

Covid-19 spend related to: 
1. Democratic services, Coroners & Mortuaries - Emergency Mortuary costs with 
contributions to pan-London mortality management provision  
2. Digital Services - Additional hardware requirements across council and for 
CAN/Shielding support teams 
3. Communications and Communities - Banners & Signage. 
4. Additional hours for Leader's Office redeployed to CAN 
 
Specific funding of £12,000 Reopening High Streets Safely Grant was used to fund 
eligible activity.  

 
 

 
  

Page 28



   
 

 16 

APPENDIX 6: SOCIAL CARE 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100k) 

Quality, Safety & 
Performance 

20,683 (643) 

Underspend mainly due to the full year 
effect of 21 net reductions in Placements 
costs of (£510,00) in care homes and 8 
fewer residents receiving Direct 
Payments of (£355,000). An overspend 
in home care of £962,000 due to the full 
year effect of home care packages and 
increases in price, is partly offset by 
costs of (£725,00) for Home First 
recharged to the Hospital discharge 
Covid-19 funding.  

LD, MH & In 
House Services 

22,275 637 

The main pressures are in Learning 
Disabilities services due the very high 
care needs of people who have a 
Learning Disability, a full year effect of 
new or returning people and higher 
market costs with an overspend 
comprising of Placements of £464,00 
and Home Care £869,000. There were 
some offsetting underspends in day care 
services of (£95,000).                                                                                                                                                                                             
In Mental Health services there was  a 
small underspend of (£6,000,000).  
The In house services have outturned 
with an underspend that resulted from a 
different model of day care provision of 
(£224,000) and reduction in Provider 
services costs of (£311,000) as 
alternatives service delivery models have 
been delivered during Covid-19.                  

Commissioning 6,227 60   

Public Health 26 0 

The Public Health (PH) grants for the 
financial year was £22,275,000. This 
funding has been allocated to improve 
Public Health outcomes for residents and 
the outturn spend was £22,077,000 with 
the balance of £198,000, allocated to PH 
reserves which can be used in future 
years.   

Resources 5,675 (69)   

Social Care 
Directorate 
(includes 

3,464 (82)   

Page 29



   
 

 17 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances (over 
£100k) 

COVID) 

Total 58,350 (97)   

 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance (97) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 8,058 

Additional Covid-19 funding (8,058) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (97) 

Spend was on a range of measures with additional support to care market providers 
and residents during the pandemic and as part of the Winter plan.  
 
The department has used the following grants to provide support on Infection Control 
measures of (£1,627,000), increase Workforce Capacity of (£456,000), ensure Rapid 
testing was being undertaken of (£168,000) and the timely Hospital Discharge 
arrangements were in place to support care costs of (£2,906,000) paid via CCG HDP 
fund. The remaining care support has been funded from the LA un-ringfenced 
emergency Covid-19 government funding (£2,436,000) and the MHCLG income 
compensation grant due the Care Act easement of (£465,000).   

 
 
 
  

Page 30



   
 

 18 

APPENDIX 7: CENTRALLY MANAGED BUDGETS 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances 
(over £100,000) 

Corporate & 
Democratic Core 

2,254 189 

Bank charges were £181,000 over 
budget as more financial activity was 
conducted online with electronic 
payments during the Covid-19 
restrictions. 

Housing Benefits (408) (8)   

Levies Summary 1,545 (21)   

Net Cost of 
Borrowing 

2,841 (187) 

Due to reductions in interest 
payments which has been partially 
offset by lower interest receivable on 
balances. 

Other Corporate 
Items 

(9,665) 598 

The adverse variance relates largely 
to commercial activities relating to 
advertising. This is a result of the 
challenging economic climate 
caused by Covid-19 combined with 
commercial income falling outside 
the Covid-19 income loss 
compensation scheme. 

Pensions & 
redundancy 

5,868 0   

COVID 19 294 0   

Total 2,729 571   

 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance 571 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 4,592 

Additional Covid-19 funding (4,592) 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) 571 

A number of Covid-19 expenditure areas were included within Centrally Managed 
budgets where these related specifically to Covid-19 programmes and were not led 
by departments. This included the Contain Outbreak Management Fund, Community 
Mass Testing and transfer payments to assist people with financial difficulties due to 
self-isolation. These were all funded from the relevant Covid-19 funding streams for 
these activities. 

 
 

  

Page 31



   
 

 19 

APPENDIX 8: HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT 
BUDGET REVENUE MONITORING REPORT OUTURN 

 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances 
(over £100k) 

Housing Income 77,474 (1,182) 

An underspend on the bad debt 
provision was due to better than 
expected income collection 
performance (£915,000) and an 
increase in commercial rental income 
(£267,000). 

Finance & 
Resources 

5,841 (1,779) 
This is due mainly to the release of a 
provision for risk.  

Housing 
Management 

6,533 352 

The overspend is mainly due to the 
unbudgeted costs of the Careline 
service of £380,000 and Covid-19 
related cleaning of sheltered housing 
communal areas of £140,000 offset by 
staffing and premises related 
underspends (£168,000). 

Property & 
Compliance 

9,150 (567) 

The underspend is mainly due to 
delays on mechanical and 
engineering repairs and maintenance 
caused by Covid-19 related access 
restrictions. 

Void & Repairs 11,147 567 

The overspend is mainly a result of 
increased volumes of disrepair 
compensation claims and the 
associated legal costs. 

Long Term 
Repairs Model  

0 2,555 

This relates to the increased costs 
associated with the procurement of 
new repairs and maintenance 
contracts as part of the long-term 
repairs model. 

Safer 
Neighbourhoods 

712 (90) 
 

Place 11,168 (238) 
The underspend is mainly due to 
delays in the recruitment of staff. 

Regeneration & 
Development 

2,061 (240) 
This mainly relates to lower than 
budgeted spend on staffing and 
feasibility costs. 

Operations 4,074 (63) 
 

Capital Charges 27,083 (766) 

This is due to an increased 
depreciation charge of £310,000 due 
to a revaluation of the Council's 
housing stock, a reduction in interest 
payable on HRA debt of (£865,000) 
due to a revision to the borrowing 

Page 32



   
 

 20 

Departmental 
Division 

Revised 
Budget 
2020/21 
£000s 

Year End 
Net 

Variance 
£000s 

Explanation of Major Variances 
(over £100k) 

strategy to take advantage of lower 
interest rates and a reduction in the 
interest payable on internal borrowing 
from the General Fund (£210,000). 

Corporate 
Support Service 
Recharges 

7,630 544 
This is due to the additional cost of 
corporate recharges following a mid-
year review. 

Appropriation 
from HRA 
General 
Reserve 

7,924 (907)   

 

Covid-19 £000s 

Underlying variance (1,152) 

Additional Covid-19 costs/ losses 245 

Additional Covid-19 funding 0 

Net Variance (after accounting for Covid-19) (907) 

Government grants to support local authorities in mitigating the financial impact of 
Covid-19 were not made available to Housing Revenue Account due to the statutory 
ringfence. Covid-19 costs mainly related to protecting tenants and residents on 
housing estates and enhanced cleaning of sheltered housing units. 

 
 

 
 

Page 33



LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy and Accountability 
Committee  

Date:  28/07/2021 

 
Subject: Commercial Revenue 
  
Report author: David Pearlman, Head of Commercial and Sales 
  
Responsible Director: Emily Hill, Director of Finance 
 
  

 
SUMMARY 
 
This report considers the effect of the Covid-19 pandemic on commercial income 
across the Council, the steps taken to mitigate and protect income and the 
opportunities and plans for 2021/22 onwards. 
 
During a uniquely challenging 15 months the emphasis has been on income 
protection. The focus for 2021/22 will be two-fold. Firstly, developing service area 
business plans with the objective of recovering income to those levels enjoyed pre 
Covid-19 and ensuring full cost recovery and secondly to develop new sustainable 
income streams that will deliver profitable growth in the short and medium term 
   
 

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That Appendix 2 is not for publication on the basis that it contains information 
relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) as set out in paragraph 3 of Schedule 
12A of the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended). 

 
2. For the Committee to note and comment on the report.   

 

 

Wards Affected: All 

 

 
 

Our Values Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Building shared prosperity Work with Recovery to maximise 
opportunities for local businesses 
  

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

Generate income streams that the 
council can re-invest into frontline 
service provision. 
Work towards direct cost recovery within 

Page 34

Agenda Item 6



service areas having commercial 
income streams and discretion with fees 
and charges 

 
 

Contact Officers 

  
Name: David Pearlman 
Position: Head of Commercial & Sales 
Telephone: 07391731680 
Email: david.pearlman@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report 

 None 
  

 
DETAILED ANALYSIS 
 
Background 
 
1. Following a review before the pandemic, officers identified a number of actions 

to re-set the Council’s approach to commercial revenue. These included: 
 

 Establishing a cross-council Commercial Board 

 Developing and producing a monthly commercial revenue report 

 Reviewing existing council businesses 

 Reviewing, evaluating, and progressing new opportunities identified by 
Blenheim Chalcot 

 Targeting a £1.5m short-term, incremental increase in income 
 

2. As a result of the pandemic, which has impacted the council’s revenue streams 
and capacity of staff responding to the pandemic, the past 15 months has been 
uniquely challenging. Therefore, during this period, the emphasis has been on 
income protection, establishing the Commercial Board and reporting and 
reviewing existing businesses. 
 

3. This report sets out some of the key commercial workstreams reporting the 
work completed during 2020/21 and plans for 2021/22.  

 
Commercial Board 

 
4. The Commercial Board was established in March 2020 but due to Covid-19 did 

not meet until June 2020. The board meets on a monthly basis. 
 

5. Appendix 1 details the Commercial Board Terms of Reference. 
 
 

Commercial Income Report 

Page 35



 
6. Service area commercial income streams were identified and agreed, and the 

report developed monitoring income performance against both prior year and 
budget. The report is produced monthly showing year to date performance. 

 
7. The year-end 2020/21 report shows a decline in income of £2.5m against 

2019/20 and a budget shortfall of £2.3m illustrating the significant impact on 
revenue due to the Covid-19 pandemic. Commercial income was not able to be 
recouped through the government’s income compensation scheme. 

 
8. Exempt Appendix 2 gives a full breakdown of service area commercial income 

performance in 2020/21. 
 

Digital Advertising 2020/21 
 
9. The Council owns a number of digital advertising sites within the borough which 

are leased and provide a source of commercial revenue for the Council. 
 

10. During the Covid-19 pandemic our digital advertising Media Operators 
approached the Council for financial support. As a result, deferred payment 
plans for Q1 2020/21 were negotiated. This approach was preferable to the 
market trend of either agreeing payment holidays or conversion of minimum 
guaranteed income to profit share.  

 
11. Whilst the Government put in place Sales, Fees and Charges Compensation 

Scheme for 2020/21 which funded a proportion of the Council’s income losses, 
commercial income was not included within the scope. Therefore, in relation to 
digital advertising, which is a landlord/tenant property transaction, no 
government support was available to fund any Covid-19 related losses.  

 
12. Income shortfall against budget was the result of a delay in new sites being 

offered to the market and expiring leases not being marketed and reductions in 
profit share income, as a consequence of the effect on the market of Covid-19. 
Independent industry sources reported a market contraction of over 80%. 

 
 

 Discretionary Fees and Charges 2020/21 Review 
  
13. During the year, there was a review of existing fees and charges for 

commercial offerings, working with Recovery, Finance and Service Leads. 
Direct costs, indirect costs and competitive position were appraised. 
 

14. The exercise identified that 15 out of 23 service areas reviewed do not recover 
full cost. Of these, 10 do not recover direct costs.  

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Blenheim Chalcot 

Page 36



 
15. Blenheim Chalcot were engaged in 2019 to review potential commercial 

opportunities available to the Council. The Commercial Discovery document 
produced identified thirty potential opportunities. Twelve are now being 
delivered with fifteen categorised as lower priority. 
 
A further 3 were progressed to initial discussion with Blenheim Chalcot 
companies but not progressed as the opportunity already existed, had 
previously been considered and rejected or viewed as too complex with an 
unacceptable level of risk.  
 
 

Plans for 2021/22 
 
Income Recovery 
 
20. The Commercial Board target is to increase like for like income by £1.5M in 

2021/22 compared to prior year and achieve a running rate equal to 2019/20 by 
year end.  
 

21. Due to the ongoing impact of Covid-19 and the previous focus on protecting 

existing revenues rather than investing in new income streams the 2021/22 

target will be achieved over a longer timeframe. This was an aspirational target 

and had not been built into the budgets until detailed plans were developed and 

tested. 

 
22. Service areas delivering significant commercial income have presented/will 

present business plans to the Commercial Board. Plans implemented and 
outcomes will be monitored through monthly monitoring, the Commercial 
Report and a mid-year evaluation. 

 
23. To ensure consistency across services a Business Plan-on-a-Page template 

has been developed. The template can be viewed in Appendix 3. 
 

24. Commercial Fees and Charges will be benchmarked against competitor 
products/services and prices to understand the commercial effects of the 
pandemic. The objectives should be to recover direct costs (as a minimum) and 
delivers a service that is competitive and adds value. 

 
Digital Advertising and ducting 
 
25. The digital advertising market has been severely affected by Covid-19 but is 

expected to start recovery within a few months of the cessation of all pandemic 
legal restrictions. 

 
26. The council has previously explored the financial opportunities which could be 

potentially generated by providing access to a council owned ducting 
infrastructure. The Council owns some ducting which has been made available 
and leased to others.  
 

Page 37



27. The Council has taken advice from expert consultants who believe there is an 
opportunity to generate significantly more incremental income. 

 
28. A procurement strategy and ITT will be developed to secure a partner with the 

intention of a new contract being in place by end of December 2021.  
 

29. A commercial partner will be engaged on a revenue share basis, with extensive 
market knowledge, to act on behalf of the Council in engaging with the market 
and taking responsibility for: 

 

 Liability for maintenance and fault repairs 

 Liability for managing access  

 Marketing and promoting the infrastructure to the market 

 Finalise licences for individual carriers  

 Ensure key social, strategic and economic outcomes are aligned with 
any market engagement. 
 

 
Civic Campus 
 
30. The Council’s return to the newly refurbished Town Hall and public realm will 

provide further opportunities for generating commercial income. The Council 
commissioned external consultants (Activist) to review opportunities and 
prepare an outline commercial strategy. An internal working group has been 
established with colleagues in Economy, Environment and Finance 
departments to consider the next stages in progressing this work including 
developing sales and marketing strategy covering weddings and both small and 
large scale events. 

 
Climate Emergency 
 
31. Working is being done with the Council’s Climate Emergency Team and 

Economy department to identify potential commercial opportunities through 
investing in energy from green tariffs to solar and wind energy. In considering 
these, the Council will seek to include local businesses in funding propositions. 

 
 

Adult Social Care 
 
32. The Head of Commercial sits on the Council’s Contracts Assurance Board and 

provides commercial input and advice as necessary. Some recent support has 
been requested in Adult Social Care to provide ongoing input into contract 
negotiations. 

 
Post Covid-19 Recovery and Economic Regeneration 
 
33. The Council will continue to scan and identify opportunities which may arise 

either as a result of or support post Covid-19 recovery in the borough.  
 

34. It should be noted that a small number of authorities, not including this council, 
in recent years established significant commercial property portfolios in order to 

Page 38



generate revenue financed through cheap borrowing through the Public Works 
Loans Board (PWLB). As a result of concerns raised by the property sector, 
local government and government, following a consultation process, the PWLB 
reformed its borrowing requirements which require that any borrowing is not 
used to finance investment assets primarily for yield.  

 
 
 

LIST OF APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 Commercial Board Terms of Reference 
Exempt Appendix 2 Gross Income Report P12 2020/21 
Appendix 3 Business Plan On A Page Template 
 
 
 
    
 
 

Page 39



Appendix 1 
Terms of Reference 
 

Name of Group: Commercial Board 
 

Purpose/Role  
 

 To provide strategic leadership for the vision and achievement of H&F 
Commercial Strategy ensuring it helps deliver the Councils Key priorities.  

 

 To engage with members, officers, external partners and all relevant 
stakeholders, as required and deemed advisable by the board 

 

 To drive co-ordinated activity that cuts across areas and breaks down silos 
 

 To consider business cases 
 

 To provide oversight on all commercial activity 
 

Objectives of the Board 
 

 To be guided by LBH&F Corporate Priorities and respond to the council vision 
of being “a compassionate council 
 

 To deliver the commercial strategy to meet annual contribution 
budgets/revised budgets 
 

 To work towards achieving full cost recovery within Fees and Charges  
 

 To agree commercial priorities based on gross profit (or contribution) and 
ease and speed of implementation  
 

 To agree cost saving and efficiency priorities  
 

 To provide a forum where new and by definition higher risk opportunities are 
developed, assessed and a robust business case is brought for approval 
 

 To monitor business case performance against approved deliverables 
 

 To maximise all opportunities from existing established services currently 
trading commercially improving effectiveness by promoting the service further 
using sales, marketing and communications mix. Challenge costs and prices 

 

 To ensure risk register is updated  
 

 To provide  commercial advice and expertise to service managers  
 

 To provide analysis of commercial performance  
 

 To report on performance of specific initiatives against business plan 
 

 To approve commercial business plans within the scope of H&F governance  

Page 40



Commercialism 

Generating a 
surplus to re-

invest in 
Services 

Council 
Priorities 

Cost 
Reduction 

Digital 

Customer 

Experience
and journey 

Commercial 
Culture 

Sales and 
market 

understanding  

 

 To help promote a commercial culture across H&F council 

What is Commercialism 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 
 

Commercial Structure 
 
 
 
       
 
    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 Should other colleagues be required for either the board or officers’ group 
meetings, they will be invited on an ad-hoc basis 

 

Accountability 
 

 Individual board and group members will be responsible for reporting their 
actions in time to be included in the pack distributed 1 week prior to the 
meeting 
 

 All commercial activity will be monitored and reported through the board 
ensuring a holistic, joined-up approach 

 
Ways of Working 
 

 The Commercial Board will meet every month 
 

 H&F existing governance standards will apply to all programmes of work, 
particularly relating to financial approval and reporting to the Strategic Director 
Environment, SLT and corporate PMO 

Commercial 
Revenue 

Committee 

 Emily Hill (Chair) 

 Sharon Lea  

 David Pearlman  

 Bram Kainth 

 Steve Hollingworth 

 Matt Rumble 

 David McNulty 

 Richard Shwe 

 Sukvinder Kalsi 

 Jo Woodward 

 Martin Calleja 

 Cllr Max Schmid 

 Cllr Adam Connell 

 Director of Finance 

 Strategic Director of 
Environment 

 Head of Commercial and Sales 

Page 42



 Business cases will be governed by the key decision thresholds and follow the 
Corporate PMO produced templates and guidance 
 

 Head of Commercial and Sales will organise meetings, issue agenda and 
supporting papers one week prior to meetings 
 

 Board will facilitate agile working ensuring pace is maintained 
 

 If deemed necessary, small action groups will be established to deliver 
specific projects to agreed timescales 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 43



Document is Restricted

Page 44

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



Appendix 3 
Business Plan 

Objectives Strategy Timescales 

Market Information Income Costs 

P
age 45



 

LONDON BOROUGH OF HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM 

Report to: Finance, Commercial Revenue and Contracts Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

Date:  28 July 2021 

 
Subject: Restoration of Hammersmith Bridge 
  
Report of: Councillor Stephen Cowan, Leader of the Council 
  
Report author: Bram Kainth, Chief Officer for Public Realm 
  
Responsible Director: Sharon Lea, Strategic Director for the Environment 
 

 
SUMMARY 
  
Until recently, Hammersmith Bridge was closed to all traffic, cyclists and pedestrians. 
It remains closed to motor vehicles. Due to its design features and materials used, it 
is one of the capital’s weakest bridges with significant weight restrictions applied 
during its later years of operation.  
 
Owing to its state of repair, the Council must address the delivery of a repair and 
restoration project for Hammersmith Bridge (“Project”). This report sets out 
emerging possibilities for delivery entities and funding options available to the council 
with a preference identified. Hammersmith Bridge will continue to require long term 
on-going monitoring and maintenance. Any preferred option should satisfy this 
requirement. 
 
On 1 June the government announced, via its Transport for London Settlement 
Letter it expected to draw up a memorandum of understanding (MoU) between the 
government, TfL and the Council to fund the reopening of the bridge conditional on: 

 all parties agreeing the cost of the project 

 each party to pay a share with the government not contributing more than a 
third 

 that the independent Board responsible for the Case for Continued Safe 
Operation, reporting to the Council, will conduct a new assessment for 
controlled and limited reopening of the bridge to pedestrians, cyclists and river 
traffic. 

 
The Cabinet considered a report on 5 July 2021 providing an update on progress 
and approved recommendations to endorse the further development of options and 
proposals for the future delivery models and financing.   
 
On 15 July 2021, the Leader of the Council announced the bridge’s re-opening on 17 
July to pedestrians, cyclists and river traffic. The decision followed a series of 
comprehensive safety investigations into the bridge and the successful introduction 
of an innovative temperature control system that helps prevent cracking in the 19th 
century cast iron pedestals. 
 

Page 46

Agenda Item 7



 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

1. That the Committee note and comment on the report. 
 

 
 
Wards Affected: All 
 

 
 

Our Values 
Summary of how this report aligns to 
the H&F Values 

Building shared prosperity 

Where achieved, establishing a long-
term contract could potentially remove 
disproportionate direct financial liability 
from the residents of Hammersmith & 
Fulham.  

Creating a compassionate council 
 

The Council proposes to seek 
exemptions for its residents, disabled 
road users, emergency vehicles and 
other specified road users from paying a 
road user charge or toll.  

Doing things with local residents, not to 
them 
 

The Council will undertake a series of 
consultations with residents and all 
stakeholders regarding the use of a 
road charging or tolling funding proposal 
and the delivery of the Project in that 
context. 

Being ruthlessly financially efficient 
 

The approach proposed will be subject 
to rigorous analysis in line with HM 
Treasure “Green Book” appraisal.  The 
Council will seek to ensure the optimum 
commercial arrangements for delivery of 
the Project and, as far as is possible, 
seek to transfer financial risk as from 
the Council and its residents to a third 
party.  

Taking pride in H&F 
 

Reopening the bridge, will restore an 
iconic, nationally significant heritage 
asset which is within the borough.  

Rising to the challenge of the climate 
and ecological emergency 
 

The proposed road charge/toll would 
encourage active, efficient and 
sustainable travel modes and reduce 
dependency on cars. Depending on the 
approach to tolling/charging, it will be 
necessary to demonstrate alignment 
with sustainable transport policies in the 
Mayor’s Transport Strategy. 

 

Page 47



 

 

Financial Impact  

 
The restoration of the bridge is expected to require a total investment of more than 
£100m (based on the latest available information but will be dependent on the 
preferred design that is selected in due course and the procurement and funding of 
that solution). In relation to its share of the costs of the project, the Council has 
proposed a road charge or toll to avoid the significant costs of restoration and 
ongoing maintenance of the bridge falling to local taxpayers and instead funded by 
those who benefit directly from its use.  
 
There are different options for delivering the restoration project and the ongoing 
management and maintenance of the Bridge. Under any preferred option, the 
Council’s intention is that the restoration and future maintenance costs should be the 
responsibility of a body other than the Council, as far as it is possible to achieve this.  
 
The Council considers that the Council’s costs of delivering the Project and the long-
term maintenance of the Bridge could be met by the revenues raised by a road 
charge or toll. Initial modelling of viability of this funding approach has been 
undertaken as part of an Outline Financial Plan, which has been shared with the DfT. 
This is being further developed and work is being progressed with the DfT to develop 
the outline business case in line with the Green Book appraisal methodology. This 
will take into account the government’s latest funding proposals, the preferred 
engineering and design solution and respective costs.  
 
As further detailed work on traffic modelling is completed and the legal mechanism 
for a toll or road charging is agreed and developed, the Council can undertake 
market engagement on financing options available to update the initial modelling and 
establish market appetite for the delivery arrangements that it proposes. 
 
The Council will incur significant costs in developing the outline business case and in 
establishing the structures necessary for delivery of the Project. The Council is 
therefore seeking agreement with the DfT on funding upfront costs. Should DfT not 
agree to the funding of, or underwriting of these costs, in the event that a road 
charge/ toll does not have DfT support, then future decision reports will include the 
financial impact of the Council commissioning/ undertaking any further work, in line 
with the requirements of the Council’s constitution. 

Legal Implications 

  
It is anticipated that the procurement of a solution for the delivery of the 
refurbishment and/or ongoing management and maintenance is subject to the Public 
Contract Regulations 2015 as amended by the Public Contract (Amendment 
etc.)(EU Exit) Regulations 2020 (PCR). Alternatively, the Concession Contract 
Regulations 2016 (CCR) may apply in terms of the long-term solution to toll or apply 
a road charge on the bridge.  It is expected that this will entail the operation of one or 
more competitive procurements. 
 
Additional consultancy and design work will also be subject to the PCR as the work 
packages are likely to be above the relevant thresholds. It is likely that this work can 

Page 48



 

be procured without the need for a full competition either by appointment as sub-
contractors under an existing Council contract or by way of appointment under a 
framework. This would comply with the PCR and Contract Standing Orders. 
 
The procurement of the long-term solution will be a public works contract under the 
PCR and substantially above the relevant threshold. If the strengthening and 
refurbishment works can be procured on their own then it is likely that this can be 
done by way of an appointment under a framework, which could be the Crown 
Commercial Services framework for construction services which includes a lot for 
works valued above £80 million. This would comply with the PCR and Contract 
Standing Orders and would represent a considerable saving in time and cost. 
 
A contract which includes ongoing management and maintenance (including with a 
toll or road charge) is likely to need to be subject to a full procurement process under 
the PCR or CCR depending on the final delivery model. There is a choice of 
procurement procedures under the current rules; the competitive procedure with 
negotiation allows for negotiation of the submitted tenders and is likely to be the 
most suitable option in terms of the refurbishment works.  In the context of the 
implementation of the final delivery model, further consideration is required.   
 
If the works were procured by an independent body that was not “a body governed 
by public law” (essentially meaning a body financed or controlled by another public 
sector body) for the purposes of the PCR then it would not be bound to follow the 
procurement rules in these regulations. 
 
The analysis leading to the imposition of a toll or charge has been completed by DLA 
Piper. The powers under consideration for the imposition of a toll or charge for the 
use of the Bridge include: 

 The imposition of a road user charge pursuant to Section 295 and Schedule 
23 to the Greater London Authority Act 1999, which would be made by the 
Council and confirmed by the Mayor of London; 

 The imposition of a toll pursuant to a toll order and a special road scheme 
made under Section 6 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and 
section 16 Highways Act 1980 respectively, which would be made by the 
Council and confirmed by the Secretary of State for Transport; or 

 A development consent order made under the Planning Act 2008, which 
would be the subject of a submission seeking a direction designating the 
proposals as a nationally significant infrastructure project and an application 
to the Secretary of State for Transport for such an order. 

 
Regardless of the procedure adopted, the Council intends to undertake consultation 
with residents, users of Hammersmith Bridge and other stakeholders prior to or as 
part of the procedures applicable to each process. 
  

Contact Officers: 

  
Name:  Bram Kainth 
Position: Chief Officer Public Realm 
Email:  bram.kainth@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 49



 

Name:  Sukvinder Kalsi 
Position: Head of Finance Environment 
Email: sukvinder.kalsi@lbhf.gov.uk 
Verified by Emily Hill, Director of Finance 
 
Name: Asad Khair  
Position:  Infrastructure Advisory Director (KPMG) 
Email: Asad.Khair@KPMG.co.uk 
Verified by Emily Hill, Director of Finance 
  
Name: Howard Bassford (DLA Piper) 
Position: Partner 
Email: howard.bassford@dlapiper.com 
Verified by Adesuwa Omoregie 
 
Name: John Sharland (Procurement legal comments) 
Position: Senior Solicitor (Contracts and Procurement) 
Email: john.sharland@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Background Papers Used in Preparing This Report  - none 

 

DETAILED ANALYSIS 

Cabinet recommendations  

 
The Cabinet considered a report on 5 July 2021 providing an update on progress 
and approved recommendations to endorse further development of options and 
proposals for the future delivery models and financing. The Cabinet agreed that: 
 

 the Council continues to explore the possibility of the establishment of a 
charitable trust and the potential for its involvement in delivery of the Project 
alongside other entities and funding options. 

 

 the recommended preferred option for the Project (subject to additional work 
required in respect of recommendations 2 and 3) at this stage is a long-term 
contract with a private sector counterparty for the design, restoration, 
operation and maintenance of Hammersmith Bridge. 

 

 a toll or road charging scheme should be developed in order to finance the 
Council’s contribution to the restoration and future maintenance and notes 
that the approval of the Secretary of State is required for a toll and the 
approval of the Mayor of London for a road charging scheme. 

 

 the Council enters into a Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) with TfL and 
the Department for Transport 

 

 it delegates authority to the Strategic Director for the Environment in 
consultation with the Director of Finance to take all the necessary steps to 
pursue the options. 

Page 50

mailto:Asad.Khair@KPMG.co.uk
mailto:howard.bassford@dlapiper.com


 

The detailed report considered by Cabinet is set out below. 

Recent Developments and Announcements from Her Majesty’s 
Government  

 
1. On 1 June the government announced, via its Transport for London Settlement 

Letter it expected to draw up a memorandum of understanding (MoU) between 
the government, TfL and the Council to fund the reopening of the bridge 
conditional on: 

 all parties agreeing the cost of the project 

 each party to pay a share with the government not contributing more than a 
third 

 that the independent Board responsible for the Case for Continued Safe 
Operation, reporting to the Council, will conduct a new assessment for 
controlled and limited reopening of the bridge to pedestrians, cyclists and 
river traffic. 

 
2. The original suggestion of the Council, TFL and the DfT each paying one-third 

of the total repair costs for Hammersmith Bridge was first raised by the Deputy 
Mayor of London at the Government Taskforce meeting in October 2020, 
without any consultation or agreement with the Council. This unprecedented 
figure is significantly greater than the 15 per cent financial contribution that any 
London borough usually pays towards the repair costs of bridges which they 
own. The remaining repair costs of the bridges have been funded by the DfT 
and TFL. A contribution by the Council of one-third of the total repair costs 
could place an unprecedented financial burden on approximately 90,000 
households in the borough. 
 

3. Before the announcement the Council and TfL were proposing a joint bid for 
government grant funding through the Levelling Up Fund, which will no longer 
be pursued. 

Proposals and Analysis of Options 

4. There are several potential delivery models (“Delivery Model Options”) for the 
restoration of Hammersmith Bridge an analysis of which has been completed 
by KPMG. These Delivery Model Options have been initially considered with 
regard to a number of factors, derived from objectives which have been 
developed in discussion between officers and external advisers (Critical 
Success Factors or CSFs). These are: 

Page 51



 

 
  

Recommendation on delivery models 

 
5. Subject to further analysis to demonstrate financial and legal deliverability 

(detailed further below), the assessment of the Delivery Model Options 
suggests that entering into a long-term contract with a private sector 
counterparty for the design, restoration, operation and maintenance of 
Hammersmith Bridge, either under a Concession or a Design Build Finance 
Maintain (DBFM) structure appears to demonstrate the best potential out of the 
models considered to deliver against the Council’s objectives. 

 
6. The key factors driving the assessment in favour of the Concession and the 

DBFM models include: 

 Significant transfer of design, refurbishment, operation and maintenance 
risks over an extended period of time (30-50+) years away from the Council 
to a private sector counterparty that is qualified to effectively manage these; 

 Greater confidence of meeting or beating programme timescales for 
delivery and delivering within budget as result of strong financial incentives 
on the private sector counterparty to manage risk i.e. no revenue until 
reopening to traffic; 

 Optimising the whole life cost and value of the Bridge through appointing a 
private party that will have incentives to better integrate design and 
refurbishment works with future operations and maintenance; 

 Minimising the budgetary impact on the Council and the wider public sector 
by supporting the raising of third-party finance, potentially in a manner that 
is off-balance sheet for the Council; and 

 Minimising the impact on public sector resources needed for the managing 
of refurbishment works contracts and oversight of future operations and 
maintenance of the Bridge as a result of passing long term responsibility for 
these activities to the private sector. 

 

Page 52



 

7. There are also some drawbacks to these options compared to the other 
Delivery Model Options considered including: 

 Concession and DBFM models will require additional due diligence, 
contractual structuring, market testing and potentially require a longer 
procurement timetable that traditional procurement. However, some of the 
additional time taken due could potentially be clawed back due to the 
additional incentives to complete quicker. 

 The Concession model requires passing at least some traffic and revenue 
risk to the market and this will require additional due diligence by potential 
bidders which may increase the risk of procurement failure in the event that 
the market cannot get comfortable with the revenue risk. This can to an 
extent be mitigated through market testing and more detailed traffic and 
revenue analysis commissioned by the Council. 

 
8. The above conclusions are preliminary and remain subject to ongoing work, 

particular around legal and financial deliverability, which may lead to certain 
options being ruled out or other changes to the analysis. Key ongoing and 
planned work that may impact the conclusions over time include: 

 Development of advice on available legal options for tolling and how 
these relate to a Concession or DBFM approach (see above and Annex 1, 
noting that either should be capable of being made to work in all 
tolling/charging scenarios, subject to retained risk for the Council) 

 Development of traffic and revenue analysis has been commissioned by 
the Council in consultation with DfT and TfL (noting this will be required to 
understand the potential revenue risk and to support analysis of compliance 
with the Mayor’s Transportation Strategy) 

 Development of a shadow financial model to assess the financial viability 
of the options analysis 

 Market testing to gauge appetite for Concession and DBFM approaches in 
order to provide confidence on their deliverability. 

 
9. The analysis supports that a Concession and a DBFM approach are taken 

forward as the preliminary preferred approaches for further development and in 
particular to form the basis for the development of an Outline Commercial 
Strategy (OCS) and an Outline Procurement Strategy (OPS). Both the OCS 
and OPS should be subject to revision and refinement in light of the important 
ongoing work described above. It is intended the OCS and OPS will form the 
basis for the Outline Business Case Commercial Case. 

 
10. This report also recommends that work to develop the OCS should explore 

further the viability and desirability of transferring any future concession or 
DBFM contract to a charitable trust dedicated to the future repair and 
maintenance of the Bridge to reflect and safeguard its unique structure and 
heritage status. 

 
Recommendations on engineering strategy 
 
11. There are a number of engineering solutions for stabilisation and strengthening 

works which are subject to detailed analysis to ensure the most appropriate 
option is taken. The outcome of the optioneering will form the basis of the 

Page 53



 

financial “ask” in the business case and the capital requirement to be funded 
through toll/charge revenues. 

Recommended next steps 

 
12. Following discussions between Council officers and DfT officials, it has been 

agreed that the approach to developing the Project should be documented in 
an Outline Business Case (OBC) under the Treasury’s five case business 
model as set out in the “Green Book”.  

 
13. The proposed key workstreams, steps and decision points in developing the 

OBC are summarised below. 
 

 Strategic Case 
- Prepare the Case for Change based on the existing TfL Business Plan 

 

 Economic Case 
- Develop Technical Solution Optioneering providing a comprehensive 

technical, cost and benefits appraisal of the stabilisation and 
strengthening options considered leading to the selection of a preferred 
option. Stabilisation and strengthening options may be considered in 
separate reports 

- Develop Traffic and Revenue forecasts for a Base Case and a range 
of scenarios.  
 

 Commercial Case 
- Develop Tolling Options Report considering the legal and commercial 

implications of different approach to securing powers for user charging 
leading to a recommended approach 

- Develop an Outline Commercial Strategy (OCS) detailing the 
commercial model and risk matrix for the preferred delivery model(s) 
and reflecting legal advice on tolling, planning and required consents 

- Develop an Outline Procurement Strategy (OPS) detailed the 
proposed approach and timelines for procurement of necessary 
contracts reflecting applicable procurement legislation and regulations 

- Conduct Market Engagement to validate, evidence and refine the 
approaches and assumptions set out in the OCS and OPS 

 

 Financial Case 
- Develop Shadow Financial Model to assess the cashflow and 

affordability impact on all parties of the Project 
- Develop Funding and Financing Plan setting out the proposal for 

funding and financing costs and risks 
- Develop the Accounting and Budgetary Impacts for the Council (and 

if required, DfT) 
 

 Management Case 
- Develop Project Management and Governance Structure including 

RACI matrix 
- Develop Project Delivery Plan and Risk Register 

 

Page 54



 

Stabilisation works – early implementation 
 
14. It is expected that the powers under consideration for the imposition of a toll or 

charge for the use of the Bridge will require 12-18 months to promote (in the 
case of Section 295 and Schedule 23 to the Greater London Authority Act 1999 
and Section 6 of the New Roads and Street Works Act 1991 and section 16 
Highways Act 1980 respectively) or 27 months (in the case of a development 
consent order made under the Planning Act 2008).  Therefore, upfront funding 
will be required for the stabilisation works.   

 
15. In carrying out the next steps set out above, it will also be necessary to 

consider whether to present shorter term stabilisation works as part of the main 
Project or separately as a discrete sub-project subject to its own OBC. This will 
depend upon the approach to funding that has to be applied.  

 
16. If capital funding can be obtained for the stabilisation works (for example from 

DfT or TfL), then this may enable them to be justified and funded separately 
and early.  However, if the stabilisation works rely upon funding by the 
proposed toll/road user charge then they will need to await the completion of 
the OBC for the entire project and the relevant legal mechanism in place.  In 
the event that funding for stabilisation is not provided and early procurement is 
undertaken by the Council, any Council borrowing, could only be committed to 
with the comfort that a charge or toll could be imposed, or an indemnity 
required from the DfT or TfL in the event that revenues to meet borrowing costs 
cannot be raised by the charge or toll. 

Reasons for Decision 

  
17. Hammersmith Bridge is a unique, Grade 2* listed suspension structure which 

opened on 11 June 1887 and is classified by Historic England as being of 
“more than special interest”. The Bridge and the highway which passes over it 
was transferred to the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham as part of 
the reorganisation of London local authorities pursuant to the Local 
Government Act 1985.   
 

18. A comprehensive structural integrity review of Hammersmith Bridge discovered 
unidentified corrosion and dangerous micro-fractures in the critical structural 
elements of the bridge, causing the Bridge to be at risk of catastrophic collapse. 

 
19. On 10 April 2019, following the advice of the Board for the Case for the 

Continued Safe Operation of Hammersmith Bridge, the Bridge was immediately 
closed to all motor vehicle traffic on public safety grounds. In August 2020, the 
Bridge was also closed to all pedestrians and cycles before reopening in July 
2021 following a series of comprehensive safety investigations into the bridge 
and the successful introduction of an innovative temperature control system 
that helps prevent cracking in the 19th century cast iron pedestals. 
 

20. In the absence of funding of the restoration of the bridge by the Government, 
the preference from officers to the cabinet is for the refurbishment and future 
maintenance of the Bridge to be funded by a road charge or toll. Officers have 

Page 55



 

worked with advisers to identify objectives that should form the basis for 
assessment of the means for delivery of the Project. 

 
21. Officers have submitted the Outline Financial Plan to the Secretary of State. 

The Council is working with DfT officials to discuss commercial and tolling 
options which are being incorporated into an outline business case which will 
build upon the Outline Financial Plan. Comments are awaited from the 
Secretary of State on how road charging or tolling options can appropriately 
proceed. Further work will be required to develop the business case, which will 
include work on traffic modelling.  
 

22. The Council will commence wider market engagement on funding and 
governance options when this consideration has advanced further, taking 
account the advice of KPMG on options for delivery models. 
 

23. The Council’s preferred option of imposing tolls or charges would improve 
affordability of the Project by charging those that benefit from the use the 
Bridge rather than having to fund costs through local taxation. 

Equality Implications  

 
24. As the proposal develops a full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken 

and updated throughout the project to include consideration of feedback from 
consultations. 

Risk Management Implications 

  
25. Complex restoration schemes require rigorous planning and preparation and, 

should be delivered and documented an Outline Business Case (OBC) using 
the HM Treasury’s five case business model as set out in the “Green Book”.  
This is to ensure identification, allocation, assessment and ongoing review of 
key risks is undertaken in support of the concession and Design Build Finance 
Maintain (DBFM) models proposed in this report. 

  
Implications completed by Michael Sloniowski, Risk Manager Tel 020 8753 2587 
 

Climate and Ecological Emergency Implications  

 
26. Hammersmith Bridge is a key transport artery for the borough, carrying public 

transport and it is important that we reinstate this, and this objective is aligned 
with the terms of reference of the DfT Taskforce. The traffic that once used 
Hammersmith Bridge has moved to nearby bridges which were already at 
capacity before the Bridge closed, especially notable that pedestrian and 
cyclists that now have to travel by car over alternate bridges further worsening 
the traffic. Air Quality issues have been displaced to the nearby bridges such as 
Putney and Wandsworth as these Bridges are seeing between 4,000 to 6,000 
daily vehicle increases on post Hammersmith Bridge closure vehicle numbers. 

 
Implications verified by: Hinesh Mehta, Strategic Lead – Climate Emergency 

 

Page 56



 

List of Appendices 
  
None 
 
 
 

Page 57


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 2020/21 PROVISIONAL REVENUE OUTTURN REPORT
	6 Commercial Revenue
	Commercial Revenue - Appendix 1
	Commercial Revenue - Exempt Appendix 2
	Commercial Revenue - Appendix 3

	7 Restoration of Hammersmith Bridge

